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THE PROPERTY OF A PRIVATE COLLECTION, CHICAGO
=1001

CHARLES-HENRI-JOSEPH CORDIER (FRENCH, 1827-1905)

Poésie (Poetry) or Jeune femme Pariote (Young woman of Paros)

signed 'C Cordier' (under right shoulder)
marble, onyx-marble, Kashmir onyx marble and gilt-bronze
31%in. (80 cm.) high, 20 in. (51 cm.) wide, 10 in. (25.5 cm.) deep

executed in 1875.

$100,000-200,000

PROVENANCE:

With Galerie André Lemaire.

With David & Constance Yates, New York, 1998.
Mr.and Mrs. Judd Weinberg, Chicago.

EXHIBITED:
Salon de Paris, 1875.

LITERATURE:

S. Lami, Dictionnaire des sculpteurs de I'école frangaise au X|Xe siécle, vol 1, Paris, 1914, p. 422.
J. Durand-Reévillon, ‘Un promoteur de la sculpture polychrome sous le Second Empire,
Charles-Henri-Joseph Cordier (1827-1905)'; Bulletin de la Société de la historie de I'art
francais, session of 6 February 1982,1984, no. 134. p. 196.

Apollo: The International Magazine of the Arts, January 1998, p. 17 (advert for David &
Constance Yates European Drawings and Sculpture, New York).

L. de Margerie, Facing the Other: Charles Cordier (1827-1905); Ethnographic Sculptor, Paris,
2004, pp. 57,198, cat. 429.

(signature)






Charles-Henri-Joseph Cordier (1827-1905) was one

of the greatest French sculptors of the 19th century,
sponsored by the French state and feted by illustrious
patrons including Queen Victoria, Napoléon Il and
Empress Eugénie, Baron James de Rothschild, and
the Marquess of Hertford. A pupil of Francois Rude,
Cordier was ethnographic sculptor to the Muséum
national d'histoire naturelle in Paris and established
an international reputation for truthful and arresting
portrayals of diverse ethnicities. Informed by the
industrial and colonial age in which he lived, Cordier
responded to this new mobility of humanity. He saw
and sought out familiar strangers and studied early
photographic portraits of African, Chinese and Arab
visitors to Paris. Not satisfied with viewing from

afar, he travelled to Algeria, Italy, Egypt and Greece,
returning with sketches which he worked up into vibrant
portraits and idealized statues rendered in precious
marbles coupled with newly invented techniques of
metal casting. Like 19th century anthropology, once
criticized for attempting to divide the human species
into typological categories, Cordier’s art has been
reassessed as a celebration of humanity and praised
for portraying, in an increasingly homogeneous world,
peoples who were in the process of disappearing.

Following the success of his 1856 trip to Algeria,
Cordier petitioned the Minister of Fine Arts, Frédéric
de Mercey, to sponsor his expedition to Greece. He
left for an eight-month voyage on 16 April 1858 aided
with a letter of introduction from Count Walewshi,
Minster of Foreign Affairs, with the objective to ‘execute
reproductions of the human types of that country and
to inspect the quarries of statuary marble’ (E. Papet &
M. Vigli “The Trip to Greece, April to November 1858';
Margerie, op. cit, p. 5.). The love of Greek culture was
rooted in the artistic intelligentsia of Paris, and Cordier
was drawn to Greece by both its exoticism and the
allure of the ancient world.

Cordier spent two months on the Greek island of Paros,
‘amidst these dry stones, sparing no fatigue by tropical
sun’, investigating the quarries to secure for France a
monopoly on the most beautiful marbles in the world.
He shipped back a huge quantity of Parian marble to
use for his ethnographic portraits of Greeks, especially
for portraits of the peoples of Paros, and eventually
realizing at least twenty-seven busts, medallions and
full scale figures representing Greek figures

The sculptor's bust of Poésie, first recorded in 1859,

is modelled from a young woman of Paros and
therefore also known by the title Jeune femme Pariote
and (Margerie, op. cit., cat. 318 & 319, p. 181). In 1860
Cordier exhibited two busts in Paris, the first titled
Jeune femme Pariote, described as wearing a Venetian
costume carved like flamboyant silk raised with gold
embroidery, and the second Jeune femme de Paros,

a simple mountain girl, her race of natural elegance
and the equal of the most cultivated of aristocratic
beauties (M. Trapadoux, L'Oeuvre de M. Cordier, galerie
anthropologique et ethnographique pour servir a I'histoire
des races, Paris, 1860, No. 39 & 41, p. 181).

The present bust of Poésie, exhibited at the Paris Salon
in 1875, glorifies the humble young woman of Paros
with a crown of laurels, strengthening the allusion to
the Muses of Greek mythology. In accentuating the
analogy, Cordier makes the viewer idealize the subject
by illustrating the lineage between the simple mountain
girl and the mythological goddesses of literature,
science, and the arts. The innate nobility of the subject
is emphasized by Cordier's characteristic coupling of
vibrant materials: the flawless white marble of the face
and décolletage is enhanced by the gleaming onyx
shoulders wrapped in a rose marble robe. The use of
such luxurious vibrant colors is exactly what made
Cordier’s sculpture so commercially successful, but led
to criticism that it was overtly decorative: a rebellious
rebuttal of the neoclassical tradition of pure white
statuary. Cordier is however considered very much a
fine rather than a purely decorative artist. His work

is legitimized in part by the patronage of the French
state, and although he can be criticized like most Salon
artists of the day for a tendency towards the romantic,
he is valued because, however diverse his subjects, his
portrayals always maintain an appealingly and relatable,
human quality.
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AN ANTWERP 'GROTESQUES' TAPESTRY

CIRCA 1580, ATTRIBUTED TO THE WORKSHOP OF JOOST
VAN HERZEELE, AFTER A DESIGN BY CORNELIS FLORIS

Depicting landscapes in an architectural framework embellished with
birds, animals and figures on a red ground, the lush border emblematic
of the four seasons with birds above, sea creatures below, dragons to the
left and land animals to the right

9ft.7in.(292 cm.) high, 12 ft. 6 in. (381 cm.) wide

$70,000-100,000

DESIGN

This magnificent 'grotesque’ tapestry is based on a drawing by Cornelis
Floris (d. 1575) dated 1557 Floris lays out the overall structure and
delineates details for the supporting herm figures and satyrs as well

as the lion masks and even the sculptures in the flanking niches. The
drawing was later engraved, a copy of which is in the Bibliotheque
Royale Albert | (Cabinet des Estampes).

ATTRIBUTION AND DATE

The design by Floris dictates that this tapestry was executed after 1557
and further comparisons reveal a weaving date slightly later than that.
Compare a grotesque tapestry in the Rijksmuseum with yellow ground
and that illustrates a scene from The Story of Nebuchadnezzar with
egg-and-dart inner border (A.M.L.E. Mulder-Erkelens, Wandtapijten

2, Renaissance, Manierisme en Barok, Amsterdam, 1971, fig. 15). This
example bears the mark 'B A’ for Brabant Antwerp and is signed with
the weaver's monogram of Joost van Herzeele (d. 1589). The same
character of grotesques within an identical egg-and-dart border is also

Arelated design by Cornelis Floris I| Antwerp circa 1557
© The Metropolitan Museum of Art, Bequest of Phyllis

on a tapestry depicting The Festivities of Balthazar which is at chateau
d'’Azay-le-Rideau (J. Coural, Le XVle Siecle Européen, Tapisseries, Paris
Mobilier National, exhibition catalogue, Paris, 1965, cat. 32).

Herzeele is known to have emigrated from Brussels to Antwerp

in 1580, where he established a sizeable workshop. He kept an
ambiguous connection to Brussels and signed a petition in 1586 with
the title ‘'master in the tapestry-making craft of Brussels' even though
the Brussels tapestry guild very strongly tried to distance itself from
tapestry manufacturers that worked outside the city (G. Delmarcel,
Flemish Tapestry, Tielt, 1999, p. 177). Shortly thereafter he is known to
have emigrated to Hamburg where he died in 1589. It is thus almost
certain that this tapestry was woven between 1580 and before 1589
while Herzeele was in Antwerp.

COMPARABLE EXAMPLES

Very similar grotesques, with allegorical figures for the months in

the central arch, were woven by Cornelis de Ronde and Jan van der
Vyst in Brussels in the 1560s and are now in Vienna (L. Baldass, Die
Wiener Gobelinssammlung, Vienna, 1920, cats. 119 - 130). Interestingly,
that series has also sometimes been attributed to Herzeele, while

the grotesques are loosely based on engraving by Cornelis Bos. The
precursor to all of these tapestries is, however, a series depicting
Triumphs of the Gods after designs by Giovanni Francesco Penni and
Giovanni da Udine of 1517-20, probably first woven for Leo X. The
earliest surviving example is that which was probably woven by the
Dermoyen workshop in circa 1540 for Henry VIII, now at Windsor
Castle (T. Campbell, Tapestry in the Renaissance, exhibition catalogue,
New York, 2002, cat. 26, pp. 246 - 252).
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A REGENCE ORMOLU TEN-LIGHT CHANDELIER
CIRCA 1725, POSSIBLY SOUTH EUROPEAN

With central urn-form stem and faceted bowl with leaf-cast finial issuing scrolling arms terminating in female caryatids,
the drip pans cast with scrolls
28in.(71cm.) high, 39 in. (99 cm.) diameter

$80,000-120,000

PROVENANCE:
Acquired from Kraemer, Paris.

Designed in the Louis XIV antique' manner, with its gadrooned and acanthus-wrapped vase stem, rams' head masks

and remarkable arms in the form of female caryatids, this remarkable and rare chandelier is inspired by the designs of

the influential ornemanistes Jean Bérain (1640-1711) and Daniel Marot (1661-1752). Designs for related chandeliers by
Bérain, who was appointed dessinateur de la chambre et du cabinet du roi to King Louis XIV in 1674, appear in a series of
engravings published in 1690- one in particular featuring female caryatid arms (illustrated here and in H. Ottomeyer and P.
Proschel, Vergoldete Bronzen, Munich, 1986, vol. |, p. 56, fig. 1.71), while a console design by Marot, with caryatid supports
emerging from very similar lush acanthus, is illustrated in T.A. Strange, An Historical Guide to French Interiors, Furniture,
Decoration, London, 1903, p. 132. Further designs by Bérain feature fluted and gadrooned vases of similar form to the
central stem of the chandelier offered here (see Ottomeyer/ Proschel op. cit, p. 48, fig. 1.5.1).

The overall form of this chandelier and several of the ornamental details, particular the volutes capped by ram’s masks
wrapping the central urn and the faceted outline of the lower part of the stem, all feature in a series of chandeliers
attributed to the celebrated cabinet-maker André-Charles Boulle (1641-1732), who was made ébéniste, ciseleur, doreur et
sculpteur du roi to Louis XIV in 1672 ( see Ottomeyer/ Proschel op. cit,pp. 52-5). His privileged position allowed him to
produce works in gilt-bronze, such as chandeliers, wall-lights and mounts for his own furniture, exempting him from the
strict guild rules separating the various métiers and indeed some of his finest creations were in gilt bronze.

Certain details of the casting and modeling, such as the relative thinness of the cast, and the unusual design of the arms,
point to this chandelier having been produced outside France, although further research will be required to pinpoint
which artistic center created it, undoubtedly directly influenced directly by the latest, most refined fashions of early

18th century Paris.

A related design by
Jean | Bérain

Illustration from

the publication,
Vergoldete Bronzen:

Die Bronzearbeiten

des Spéatbarock und
Klassizismus” published
by Klinkhardt & Biermann,
Munich, 1986.







PROPERTY FROM A DISTINGUISHED
NEW YORK COLLECTION
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AN EMPIRE ORMOLU AND MARMO
BROCCATELLO DI SPAGNA LONG DURATION
STRIKING SKELETON CLOCK WITH
CALENDAR AND REMONTOIRE

ATTRIBUTED TO VERNEUIL, CIRCA 1800

The movement with inverted Y-form frame with four double-screwed pillars,
beat adjuster on crutch, pinwheel escapement mounted on the backplate
with knife-edge suspended front swinging pendulum, twin going barrels,
strike on bell, with 60 second remontoire mounted on the backplate, the
white enamel Roman chapter ring with outer concentric date ring decorated
with applied gold leaves with translucent green enamel berries, signed
Coteau to the reverse, pierced blued steel hour and minute hands, steel
sweep center seconds hand, subsidiary enamel rings below for day of the
week and month with individual Zodiac names, with blue enamel rolling
moonphase above, on twin pedestal marble supports with ormolu bases and
on rectangular plinth with four ormolu flattened bun feet

27%in. (70.5 cm.) high, 137% in. (35 cm.) wide, 5% in. (14.5 cm.) deep

$50,000-80,000

PROVENANCE:
Anonymous sale; Sotheby's, London, 21 October 1982, lot 232.

LITERATURE:

Derek Roberts, Continental and American Skeleton Clocks, Schiffer,
1989, p. 60, figs. 46 a & b and p. 129, figs 122 a, b & c.



Tardy records two Verneuils, one at 42 Rue St Honoré and
another (Verneuil Jeune) at Rue du Contrat Social in 1806
and at Faubourg St-Martin in 1815. It is probable that the

present clock was made by the former.

Verneuil specialised in exceptional skeleton clocks, all

of which bear a close family resemblance. Of varying
complexity, they mostly include calendar work which is laid
out in a similar way.

Joseph Coteau (1740 - 1801) supplied dials for the great
clockmakers of France. He became maitre in 1778 and
maitre-peintre-émailleur at the Académie de St.-Luc in
Geneva in 1766 and moved to Paris in 1772, where he was
installed in the rue Poupie. He claimed to have found a
method 'dappliquer solidement I'or marié avec les émaux de
toutes couleurs sur la porcelaine', the 'jewelled' effect

on porcelain and enamel, and by 1780 his name first appears

in the kiln records at Sevres. By 1784 his production
at Sevres was considerable, receiving 4520 livres for
executed commissions.
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THE ROTHSCHILD-
CARNARVON GARNITURE

Almina Herbert, Countess of Carnarvon and Chatelaine of Highclere Castle on the Occasion of the
Coronation of King Edward VII, 9 August 1902

AN IMPORTANT PRIVATE COLLECTION,
LONG ISLAND

1005

A SEVRES PORCELAIN BEAU BLEU
GARNITURE OF THREE VASES AND COVERS
(VASES 'FERRES'1ER ET 2EME GRANDEUR)

CIRCA 1776, ONE WITH BLUE INTERLACED L'S MARK AND AN
INCISED L, ANOTHER WITH AN INCISED SQUARE, THE SCENE
PAINTING ATTRIBUTED TO JEAN-LOUIS MORIN

Each finely painted with a military encampment scene, the side and back
panels of the larger central vase each with a loose bouquet, the side panels
of the two flanking smaller vases with three ribbon-tied interlocking wreaths
of pink roses, berried laurel or various flowers, the back panels with a loose
bouquet, all three cover finials English porcelain replacements

17 in. (43.8 cm.) high (the largest) (6)

$200,000-300,000
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PROVENANCE:

Very possibly the single vase Ferré of the first size and the pair of the
second noted in the factory sales records for 1777 as having sold to
the king in 1776 (SCC Vy3, 199 recto & verso).

Alfred de Rothschild (1842-1918), acquired in 1887 (this date first
noted in the Walters sale catalogue of 1941), Seamore Place, London.
By descent to his natural daughter The Rt. Hon. Almina, Countess of
Carnarvon; Christie’'s King Street, 19 May 1925,

lot 259 (£1050 to A. Seligmann).

With Arnold Seligmann, Paris.

Mrs. Henry Walters, Baltimore, Md. (by whom acquired from the
above); Parke-Bernet Galleries, Inc., 3 May 1941, lot 1364

($2,900 - color illustration).

The Property of a New Jersey Foundation; Sotheby's, New York,

31 October 1981, lot 104 ($13,000).

With Dalva Brothers, New York.

An Important Private Collection, Long Island, acquired from

Dalva Brothers in January 1999.

LITERATURE:

Pierre Verlet, Sevres, le XVllle Siecle, Paris, 1953,

plate 60 - pp. 212-213.

Rosalind Savill, The Wallace Collection, Catalogue of Sevres
Porcelain, London, 1988, vol. Il, pp. 215, 232, footnotes 17-c and 22.
Geoffrey de Bellaigue, French Porcelain in the Collection of Her
Majesty the Queen, London, 2009, Vol. Il, cat. nos. 30 & 31.

THE PROVENANCE
Alfred de Rothschild (1842-1918)

Son of Baron Lionel de Rothschild and a respected banker, art collector
and philanthropist in his own right, Alfred de Rothschild served on

the board of the National Gallery and helped establish The Wallace
Collection. His personal art collections included important paintings,
French furniture and Sévres porcelain not unlike those of his friend,
Richard Wallace. He lived in at 1 Seamore Place, London and at Halton
in Buckinghamshire. It is thought that the present vases were in his
collection by 1887. Upon his death in 1918, the contents of Seamore
Place were inherited by Almina Herbert, 5th Countess of Carnarvon.

Almina, Countess of Carnarvon (1876-1969)

Legally the daughter of Marie (aka Mina) Boyer Wombell and Captain
Frederick Charles Wombwell, Almina Wombell is now acknowledged
as the natural daughter of Alfred de Rothschild. Indeed, the name
Almina is a hybrid of her father and mother's first names. Almina’s
dowery of some £500,000, provided by Alfred de Rothschild at the
time of her marriage to George Herbert, 5th Earl of Carnarvon in 1895,
enabled the earl to maintain the family seat, Highclere Castle (the
setting for the fictitious Downton Abbey), and to fund his many art and
archeological projects. Chief among these was financial support for
Howard Carter’s excavations in the Valley of the Kings that led to the
discovery of Tutankhamun's Tomb in 1922.

In 1918, when Almina inherited the contents of Seamore Place from her
father, some of the works of art were sold directly to the noted dealer
Arnold Seligmann. The balance, including the present lot, made up the
contents of a single-owner sale held at Christie's King Street galleries
in 1925. Lot 259, the present set of vases, was acquired by Seligmann
for his Paris gallery. They were purchased by his American client,

Mrs. Henry Walters.

Mrs Henry (Sarah aka Sadie) Walters (1859-1943)

Although she did not marry the noted American railroad magnate,
yachtsman, art collector and philanthropist Henry Walters (1848-1931)
until 1922, Sadie and her first husband, Pembroke Jones, had lived with
their close friend Henry Walters since the turn of the century, traveling
the world collecting art. With the death of his father in 1894, Henry
Walters inherited the core of the art collection that survives today

as the Walters Art Museum, Baltimore. Henry added to it, housing it
in a purpose-built Renaissance style mansion in the Mount Vernon
neighborhood of Baltimore and opening it to the public in 1909 as the
Walters Art Gallery. Upon his death in 1931, the house and contents
were bequeathed to the City of Baltimore.

Henry's younger widow Sadie continued the family tradition of

buying art and antiques, her taste running to 18th century French
decorative arts. She purchased the present set of vases from Arnold
Seligmann in Paris sometime after the dealer acquired it at the
Carnarvon auction in 1925. In 1941, an eight-day two-part single owner
sale was held at Parke-Bernet Galleries in New York to disburse the
bulk of her collection. The sale ran to a total of 1456 lots

[Part 1: 23-26 April 1941; part 2: 30 April, 1-3 May 1941], with the
present vases offered as lot 1364.



THE DECORATION

The sales records for Louis XVI's purchases of 1776 note the following:
2 vases ferré Soldats at 480 livres each or 960 livres in total and further
down on the same page 1 Vase ferré beau bleu Soldats at 600 livres.
The prices would seem to indicate a pair of the second size combined
with a single of the first size decorated with scenes of soldiers - a
description which could easily fit the present lot. However, it could also
easily fit a garniture of vases in the English Royal Collection since 1826
(de Bellaigue, cat. nos. 30 & 31) - of similar shape, size, ground color
and decoration as the present vases with one immediately noticeable
difference - the beau bleu ground is gilt overall with oeil-de-perdrix,

a richly patterned surface worthy of a king. On the other hand, that
there are differences in decorative details found on the present three
vases can be interpreted as a reinforcement of the likelihood that
entries in the factory’s sales records for the king’s purchases in 1776
refer to the present three vases, given that the wording of the two
entries also varies.

Certainly, the three vases can be documented by word and illustration
as have been together and described as a garniture since at least

the last quarter of the 19th century. From the earliest documentation
through their acquisition at auction in 1981, the three vases were

mounted as a garniture on gilt bronze bases. These 19th century
mounts were almost certainly added and the pinecone knops replaced
either prior to the acquisition of the vases by Alfred de Rothschild or at
his request. These mounts are very similar to those found regularly on
vases in the Royal Collection and in the Wallace Collection, mid-19th
century additions. The catalogue illustrations for the auction sales of
1925, 1941 and 1981 all show the mounts in place and the finials as
found today.

The attribution to Jean-Louis Morin (1732-1787) of the military
encampment scenes is based on marked examples of the same or
similar scenes found on Sevres vases of similar date and, in some
cases, of the same shape. Morin was active at Vincennes and Sévres
1754-1787 as a figure painter specializing in marine and military scenes.
Although none of the three vases in the present lot bears the capital M
used by Morin as a mark, the scenes themselves serve as a signature
in that they appear on other marked examples that are certainly by the
same hand. See de Bellaigue, op. cit, cat. nos. 31 & 32 for the same
scene of a soldier speaking to a woman cooking over a fire, soldiers at
a table in the background found on the vase illustrated at the right in
the present catalogue illustration; Savill, op. cit. cat. nos. C261-262 for
other vases Ferré similarly painted.
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THE DUKE AND DUCHESS OF WINDSOR
MAISON JANSEN COMMODES

The Duke and Duchess on the roof of La Croe
Photo Credit: Roger Schall

THE PROPERTY OF A GENTLEMAN
=1006

A PAIR OF FRENCH POLYCHROME-PAINTED COMMODES

SUPPLIED BY MAISON JANSEN TO THE DUKE AND DUCHESS OF WINDSOR,
CIRCA 1938

Each with a faux marble top, each decorated with a ribbon trellis held with clasps of pearls,
centering the badge of the Prince of Wales, one painted throughout with butterflies, including the
Silver Studded Blue, the Machaon (called the Old Word Swallowtail), the Boloria Selene (called

the Small Pearl Bordered Fritillary), the Parnassius Apollo (called the Apollo), one with flowers
including buttercups, forget-me-nots, holly, poppies, white clover, sweet peas, chicory, campanula,
dianthus, cornflower, vetch, dog roses, Jerusalem artichokes and hedge bed-straw, each with
mahogany and silk-lined drawers, and some of the carcases in mahogany, one inscribed in blue ink
to the top corner of the back panel, '866', the other inscribed in blue in the same area '864" and also
with small paper label with black and red type, 'EP /1613 / ..7'

35in. (89 cm.) high, 63 in. (160 cm.) wide, 24%2 in. (62 cm.) deep (2)

$200,000-300,000

PROVENANCE:

Supplied by Maison Jansen circa 1938 to the Duke and Duchess and Windsor for the
Chateau de la Croe, le Cap d'Antibes.

Moved circa 1952 to the Moulin de la Tuilerie, Gif Sur Yvette.

Sold at auction in Paris circa 1980.

With Pierre Passebon, Paris, from whom acquired by the present owner.

LITERATURE:
S. Menkes, The Windsor Style, Topsfield, 1988, p. 64 (photographed in situ in the bedroom of
the Duchess of Windsor in the Moulin de la Tuilerie, circa 1952).






24

THE WINDSOR COMMODES
By James Archer Abbott

More than any other decorating firm of the late-19th and 20th
centuries, Maison Jansen was the creator of history's greatest

public and private stage sets. And more than any other "players"
included in this firm's celebrated clientele, the Duke and Duchess

of Windsor utilized the unrivaled talents of Jansen's designers and
artisans to define a very personal esthetic - one that became known
as the Windsor Style. "The Duchess," as fellow Jansen patron Jayne
Wrightsman remembered, "had the best taste of all" (Mrs. Charles B.
Wrightsman to James Abbott, interview held in London, 28 August
2000). This pair of trompe-l'oeil painted commodes is supremely
representative of that taste. With naturalistic butterflies, pearl-fastened
ribbons, and highly symbolic - in part because they are inaccessible

- bejeweled gilt crowns resting atop pristine Prince of Wales plumes
("Badge of the Heir-Apparent"), these most important representations
of Jansen design have no true rival - not in quality of design, level of
execution, nor historical importance.

From its founding by Jean-Henri Jansen (1854-1928) in 1880,

Maison Jansen became recognized through word of mouth among

a burgeoning upper class in France's still-young Third Republic. By

the turn of the century however, Jansen had excelled beyond being
just a successful Parisian enterprise, counting European monarchs
among its elite patrons. King Willem Il of the Netherlands and Spain's
exiled Queen Isabella Il were presumably the firm's first royals in the
1880s. Isabella's son Alfonso Xll and his own posthumous son and

heir, Alfonso XIII, grandfather of the current king, would eventually

be counted among Jansen's most important clients; their Royal crest
was included in the firm's letterhead long after Alfonso XlII was exiled
from Spain in 1931. Following a devastating 1890 fire that destroyed
much of Belgium's Chateau de Laeken, King Leopold Il initiated a near
eighty year relationship with Jansen. Among the last royal houses to fall
fully into the fold was that of England. After the 1901 death of Queen
Victoria, Jansen was called upon by Edward VIl to freshen the interiors
of Buckingham Palace. His grandson, Edward VI, repeated the call for
his own short tenure in 1936.

And following Edward's December 1936 abdication and subsequent
marriage the following spring to American Wallis Warfield Simpson

- whose prior divorces had made her ineligible to share the throne -
the newly classified Duke and Duchess of Windsor employed Jansen
to create memorable sets to satisfy all expectations for the "love

story for the ages." Jansen would eventually decorate four houses for
the Windsors, transmitting to each 18th-century Bourbon grandeur
intermingled with not always subtle degrees of Hollywood-like glamour

for the benefit of an ever scrutinized shared life. But the first remained
the model for the three subsequent residences - 24 boulevard

Suchet in Paris (1938); the Moulin de la Tuilerie (1952); and 4 Route du
Champ d'Entrainement in Paris's Bois de Boulogne (1953). Indeed,

all future Windsor homes adhered to the "very elegant stage for

a very elegant play,"

'‘Chateau de la Croe," in Antibes, France (Claude Mandron to James
Abbott, interview held in Paris, 5 February 1999).

The Duke was well aware of the importance to be given to this first
shared residence. He personally approached Jansen's new head,

Stéphane Boudin (1888-1967) regarding the decoration of the classical
white house overlooking the Mediterranean Sea, originally designed
by the architect Armand Albert Rateau for the newspaper magnate
Sir Pomeroy Burton in 1927 and then leased from 1938-1949 by the
Windsors. Boudin had joined Jansen in the early 1920s, and by 1936,
had assumed leadership. Known simply by his surname, he was
already a heralded tastemaker, designing rooms immediately deemed
iconic. Indeed, his 1935 Bavarian Rococo dining room in the London
townhouse of American expatriate Henry 'Chips' Channon earned

him society's title of "the greatest decorator in the world," as well as
the admiration of frequent Channon dinner guests, the then Prince of
Wales and Mrs. Simpson (see R. Rhodes James ed., Chips: The Diaries
of Sir Henry Channon, London, 2003, p. 38).

In May 1938, the celebrated Boudin was summoned to Antibes. The
meeting was a great success, and on 2 June, 1938 the Duke forwarded
to Jansen the following note: "l enclose a cheque for: One hundred and
fifty thousand Francs, (F. 150,000.00) on account, against the work that
is being done by your firm at LA CROE. The Duchess and | take this
opportunity of thanking you for the help you have given us personally,
and would, at the same time, ask you to tell your workmen, how much
we appreciate their co-operation.” (A deposit seems out of the ordinary.
Perhaps it was the Duke who insisted upon this; even at this early time
there were unfounded rumors of bills being left unpaid.)

By mid-summer, Jansen was overseeing the mansion's redecoration.
The twenty-five-foot-high entrance hall and adjoining salon were
minimally furnished, with large panels of mirrored glass and gilded
console tables reflected in highly polished floors of marble and oak.
The most dramatic aspect of the formal salon was the three-window
bay, elegantly draped in white striped silk and framed by monumental,

The Dressing Room at Le Croe showing the commodes
Photo Credit: Peter Nyholm

The collection label






pilaster-braced wainscot highlighted by Boudin in gold. The restrained
elegance of the décor was surely intended to honor the "best dressed”
Duchess as the center of any and all gatherings.

The Directoire-inspired dining room served a similar purpose. White
plaster walls were accented with canary yellow moldings; Jansen
incorporated depth-deceiving moldings to the central alcove to
dramatically frame Sir Alfred Munnings's portrait of the then Prince
on his horse, Forest Witch. Elegant painted chairs with pale yellow silk
upholstery were trimmed with concentric squares of white braid and
yards of militaristic fringe. Against this near monochromatic canvas

of a room the Duke and his bride reigned over some of society's most
celebrated dinners during the last year before world war.

The Duchess came to greatly depend on Boudin. Through an

on-going tutorial, the once overwhelmed Duchess gradually attained

a confidence in formulating the atmosphere in which she wished
herself and her husband to be seen. Occasionally, she demonstrated
trepidation, if not political acumen, regarding such proposals as

the inclusion of carved swans-a motif associated with the ill-fated
Empress Josephine. By early 1939, she found herself at ease with her
new role as international trendsetter. "Dear Mr. Boudin, Thank you so
much for your visit here yesterday. | believe we thought up some ideas,
which will be very attractive when executed. His Royal Highness liked
the meuble chinois... and the chairs... | am inclined to think that the
design for the two tables in the Salon will work out better from the tree
idea than from having swans as their bases, but | am looking forward
to seeing the designs when | arrive in Paris. | have already begun to feel
the call of the antiquares [sic]!"

Homage to the special relationship between designer and patron

was the elegant bedroom created for the Duchess. Boudin devised a
fantasy of mostly white-on-white - a characteristic example of Jansen's
enveloping female clients in romantic luxury. Delicate peach-and-

ivory satin draperies were set within arched windows that overlooked
fragrant gardens below, while a sable-like carpet with raised and
intertwined 'W's' seemingly sanctified an otherwise ordinary floor. The
focus of this very personal domain was the pair of exquisite commodes,
finely decorated with the Duke's badge when Prince of Wales, together
with butterflies and faultless blossoms-among them is a gathering of
clover, honoring her husband, the one-time Edward VIII.

At first glance it might seem surprising that these commodes feature
so prominently the badge of the Heir Apparent, the Prince of Wales'
feathers, while being used in the first house the Duke and Duchess
lived in following the abdication and their subsequent marriage in 1937,
The reverse of one also features a label with the cypher 'EP' used by
the Duke when Prince of Wales. It is tempting therefore to think that
the commodes might have been commissioned from Jansen for the
renovations at St. James's Palace by the Duke when Prince of Wales
or for Buckingham Palace when King. However, the intensely feminine
ornament of the commodes, particularly their prominent use of pearls,
makes it much more likely that they were made specifically for the
Duchess- especially as they had pride of place not only in her bedroom
at La Croe, but also in the 1950s, in her bedroom in the Moulin de la
Tuilerie ("The Mill"). It is also worth noting that the Prince of Wales'
feathers continued to be part of the ornamental vocabulary used by
Jansen in the Windsors' homes, for instance on the carpet designed
for the drawing room of the Bois de Boulogne and as supports on a
pair of console tables at La Croe, while the Duke's bedroom at the Bois
de Boulogne featured a tapestry, formerly used in his bedroom at Fort
Belvedere, with the coat-of-arms of a Tudor Prince of Wales, while

the bedspread was also embroidered with the 'EP' cypher. Moreover, a
number of pieces at Bois de Boulogne, clearly acquired after the Duke
ceased to be Prince of Wales, featured the same label with 'EP' cypher,
leading to the conclusion that following his abdication, the Duke
retained a stockpile of these labels.

Specially decorated pieces of furniture such as these were the epitome
of Jansen extravagance - included in commissions for the equally
legendary Lady Olive Baillie, American first lady Jacqueline Kennedy,
and many others. Of the Windsor commodes, there are no finer
examples of Maison Jansen's masterful artistry, let alone more revealing
models of their investment in the definition of clients' personae.

James Archer Abbott is Executive Director, Lewes
Historical Society, Delaware and author of many
publications including JANSEN Furniture Acanthus Press,
2007; JANSEN, Acanthus Press, 2006; Designing Camelot:
The Kennedy White House Restoration' (co-authored with
Elaine Rice), Van Nostrand Reinhold, 1997; ‘A Frenchman in
Camelot: The Decoration of the Kennedy White House by
Stéphane Boudin', Boscobel, 1995.







THE LORD DELAVAL
CHINESE VASES

Portrait Of Sir John Hussey-Delaval,
15t Baron Delaval (1728-1808)

PROPERTY FROM THE TIBOR COLLECTION
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A PAIR OF CHINESE EXPORT PORCELAIN
SOLDIER VASES AND COVERS

QIANLONG PERIOD (1736-1795)

Each massive baluster vase enameled in vibrant famille rose colors with

a pair of phoenix amongst weathered blue rockwork, brightly colored
chrysanthemum growing alongside and a budding magnolia tree above,

all above a lappet border, yellow ground on one and lime green on the

other, similarly one with a yellow floral band around the shoulders and the
other with green, both vases with a colorful collar suspending ribbon-tied
auspicious symbols and blossoms, these motifs repeated on the domed
covers beneath iron-red and gilt Buddhist lion knops, with giltwood stands
53in. (134.6 cm.) high, each (6)

$100,000-150,000

PROVENANCE:

The Collection of Sir John Hussey-Delaval, Lord Delaval (1728-1808) and
thence by descent.

Anonymous sale; Sotheby's, London, 4 November 2009, lot 239.







SIR JOHN HUSSEY-DELAVAL,
1ST BARON DELAVAL (1728-1808)

John Hussey-Delaval was born a second son but

by the latter decades of his life was master of
Doddington in Lincolnshire, Ford Castle and Seaton
Delaval in Northumberland, Claremont in Surrey and
magnificent quarters in London, first at Grosvenor
House in Millbank, then Hanover Square and finally
New Cavendish Place. The extravagance and reckless
behaviour of his rakish older brother, Sir Francis Blake
Delaval, led his family to turn over the management

of their estates to John in 1755 and by 1771 John was
able to buy out the remaining interests of both his
older and younger brothers in those properties as well
as in the Hartley Colliery and the Royal Northumbrian
Glassworks, the sources of the family's wealth. Delaval
was a member of Parliament for Berwick on Tweed
intermittently from 1754 to 1786; he was created

an English baronet in 1786. His seat was Seaton
Delaval Hall (now a National Trust property), a 1720s
masterpiece by Sir John Vanbrugh. Doddington Hall
was also a favorite residence. Delaval updated the
interiors of the Elizabethan house, bringing modernizing
improvements like double-glazed windows. It had
passed down through his mother's family and is
notable for never having left the family's hands from its
inception in 1595 until today.

LORD DELAVAL'S CHINESE PORCELAINS

Delaval was a keen furnisher and renovator and almost
constantly engaged in remodeling and decorating
projects at his various properties. He kept detailed

inventories as well as accounts of his quite significant
expenditures on furniture, including correspondence
with John Cobb. (See L. Wood, Furniture for Lord
Delaval: Metropolitan and Provincial, Furniture History,
Vol 26 (1990) pp.198-234.)

Recorded in the Seaton Delaval Papers, Northumberland
Collection Services DE.31-2, is Lord Delaval's 2 May
1778 purchase from the collection of Mr. Lever (through
Thomas Waring) of a pair of Chinese vases "remarkable
for their size and beauty." They cost 30 guineas, a huge
sum at the time, and may have been planned for the
Cavendish Place house, which Delaval is known to have
displayed sumptuous Chinese porcelains.

LORD DELAVAL AND ROBERT ADAM

Delaval may have met Robert Adam through Adam's
great patron, the Duke of Northumberland. He
employed Adam for his London houses at Hanover
Square, Conduit Street and Portland Place as well as for
his country villa Milburn in Esher, Surrey, the drawings
for which survive in the collection of Sir John Soane's
Museum. He also commissioned Adam for Gothick-
style alterations to his medieval and Elizabethan Ford
Castle at Berwick-upon-Tweed.

'SOLDIER" VASES

The tale of Augustus the Strong (1670-1733),

the porcelain-obsessed Elector of Saxony and King of
Poland who traded Frederick the Great a regiment of
dragoons for a collection of Chinese porcelain, is well-
known. Eighteen over-sized floor vases were included in
this collection (some still on view in Dresden today), and
ever since towering Chinese porcelain vases have been
known as 'dragoon vases' (dragonervasen) or 'soldier
vases'. Extremely difficult to make, to pack and to ship,
these massive vases were destined for Europe's elites,
where they stood guard in ballrooms and great halls

of palaces and country houses. The Jesuit traveler to
Jingdezhen, Pere d'Entrecolles, recorded in his famous
letters, "..Urns above three Foot high without the Lid...out
of twenty-four eight only suceeded...These Works were
bespoke by the Merchants of Canton for the

European trade."

THE PHOENIX IN CHINESE ART

The stately phoenix on the present pair are perhaps the
most exalted of all Chinese birds, symbolic of sun and
warmth for summer and harvest and closely associated
with the Empress - though this was likely lost on Lord
Delaval and his coterie, who would have viewed them
simply as captivatingly exotic Asian birds.

"...remarkable for their size

and beauty..."






PROPERTY FROM THE HALL
IN MEMORY OF CYPRESS (JIBO TANG)
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A PAIR OF MASSIVE SANCAI-GLAZED POTTERY
GUARDIAN FIGURES

TANG DYNASTY (AD 618-907)

Each guardian figure is modeled standing on a recumbent animal with one knee raised to rest

his foot on the animal's head and right arm raised as if to hold a spear; his left hand resting on his
hip. Wearing finely articulated full armor with stamped decoration including florets on the breast
plate and with epaulettes at each shoulder in the form of horned mythical beast masks. Their
faces left in the biscuit and exceptionally well-modeled with individualized ferocious expressions;
one wearing his hair in a topknot and standing on a amber deer, the other with leather helmet and
posed on a green ox. All attractively glazed in tones of amber, green and cream.

40"% and 38 in. (103 and 96.5 cm.) high (2)

$150,000-250,000

PROVENANCE:
Acquired in Hong Kong, 1999.
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TANG SANCAI TOMB FIGURES

LLarge, imposing guardian figures like the present pair
would have been made to stand guard in the tomb of
Tang dynasty elite. Those with vibrant sancai (‘three
color') glazes, like the current examples, flourished from
the late 7th to mid-8th century. One of the earliest
tombs to contain sancai pieces was that of Li Feng,
Prince of Guo (622-675), fifteenth son of Emperor
Gaozu, founder of the Tang dynasty. By the first decade
of the 8th century large sancai figures were included

in the tombs of royalty and nobility both at the capital
Chang'an (modern day Xi‘an) and at Luoyang, which
served as the Eastern Capital in the Tang period. The
inclusion of large sancai figures declined significantly
following the An Lushan rebellion of 755-683, which had
a devastating effect on the empire, seriously weakened
the dynasty, and led to the loss of the Western Regions.

The tomb of Crown Prince Zhang Huai (653-684),

sixth son of Emperor Gaozong, was excavated in 1971
and among the large sancai figures contained therein
was a pair of guardian warriors in similar pose to

the current figures (illustrated in National Treasure -
Collection of Rare Cultural Relics of Shaanxi Province,
Xi'an, 1998, pp. 230-1). The grandeur of his tomb and
the other royal tombs of the Qianling Mausoleum on
Mount Liang, north-west of Xi‘an, with their fine murals
and impressive sancai figures, reflects the Imperial
determination to reinforce the noble status of the family.
The contents of these tombs also demonstrate the
importance of sancai figures in the burial practices of
the Tang royal house and aristocracy of the period.

LOKAPALAS OR GUARDIANS

Guardian warriors are often called ‘lokapalas’, guardian
figures who appear at Indian Buddhist sites such as
Bharhut in Madhya Pradesh as early as the 1st century
BC (see R.E. Fisher, ‘Noble Guardians: The Emergence
of the Lokapalas in Buddhist Art’, Oriental Art, vol. 41,
no. 2 (Summer), pp. 17-24). The group of four figures,

or Heavenly Kings, who guard the four directions,
became established in the 5th or 6th century. While
four guardians appear on the walls of Cave 285 at
Dunhuang (dated to AD 538), Chinese guardian warriors
usually appear in pairs, both at Buddhist sites and in
tombs. It has been suggested by some scholars that the
Chinese guardian warriors are based not on lokapalas,

but on dvarapalas or entryway guardians, although these
latter figures are not normally depicted in armour

(see J.CY. Watt (ed.), China: Dawn of a Golden Age,
200-750 AD, op. cit, p. 330). Both the dvarapalas

and the Chinese guardian warriors are, however,
characterised by the fierce expressions and threatening
poses. This is in keeping with the protective role of the
guardians, who, in the case of the Chinese tomb figures,
stood at the entrance to the tomb chamber and

repelled evil spirits.

Guardian figures clad in armour and trampling demons
appear at the Longmen caves in Henan, where such
figures can be seen on the wall of the Fengxiansi, dated
to the 670s. A well-preserved painted wooden guardian
figure in armour trampling a demon was excavated

in 1973 at Astana near Turfan, Xinjiang Autonomous
Region, from the joint tomb of Zhang Xiong (AD 584-
633) and his wife née Qu (AD 607-688). It is likely that
the guardian figure dates from the time of the wife's
burial in 688, when the tomb was enlarged

(illustrated and discussed in J.CY. Watt (ed.), China:
Dawn of a Golden Age, 200-750 AD, New York, 2004,
p. 228, no. 180).

The royal tomb sancai guardian warrior figures were
armoured and helmeted in a similar fashion to the
current figures. Figures such as these are often attired
in a version of the zhanpao or battledress of imperial
guards. On the upper body they wear a cuirass
(breastplate and backplate fastened together), while
the shoulders are protected by a type of paultron and
the forearms by a type of vambrace, with greaves to
protect the shins. These were worn with a knee-length
coat. Armour similar to this is shown on imperial
guards depicted in the murals on the walls of Princess
Yongtai's tomb (illustrated in Wenwu, 1964, no. 1, pl. VIf).
As is frequently the case with guardian warriors of this
type, the current figures stand with one hand resting
on their hips and their other arms raised with hand
curled around to hold a weapon such as a halberd, pike
or spear. The weapons themselves have not survived,
probably because their shafts were made of wood.

The result of Oxford
thermoluminescence test no.

PH 993/404 is consistent with the
dating of this lot.






36

Elisabeth Vigée-Lebrun, The Empress Maria Feodorovna, 1799

=1009

A RUSSIAN PILE CARPET
PROBABLY THE IMPERIAL TAPESTRY FACTORY, ST. PETERSBURG, CIRCA 1800

The Greek key outer border with a rosette at each corner, enclosing an inner border of rose vine
heavy with blooms and buds and edged with a pair of narrow formal borders, the center with a
basket of roses and other spring flowers, in each corner a ribbon-tied wreath enclosing a script M
monogram surmounted by an Imperial crown, at the bottom of the field inscribed in Cyrillic ‘Fabr.
Pavlovskii Gr: Kushelevo (or Kusheleva?)’

Approximately 10 ft. 11in. x 8 ft. 8 in. (333 cm. x 264 cm.)

$80,000-120,000

PROVENANCE:

Almost certainly supplied to Empress Maria Feodorovna (1759-1828) for her use at Pavlovsk
Palace, possibly under the direction of Count Grigorii Grigorievich Kushelev (1754-1833) or
his wife Countess Liubov Il'inichna Kusheleva, (1783-1809)
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THE RUSSIAN IMPERIAL TAPESTRY FACTORY

The Imperial Tapestry Factory was established in 1716 in the vicinity of
St. Petersburg by Peter the Great (reigned 1682-1725). Weavers from
the Gobelins manufactory in Paris came to Russia to train Russian
workers in both tapestry-woven and knotted pile carpets. Woven for
the use of the court, the carpets reflect the French taste in decorative
arts preferred during the reign of Peter the Great and his successors
during the 18th and through the 19th centuries.

In this example, the central flowering basket, the lush and abundant
floral scrolls and festoons, the leafy garland encircling a crowned ‘M,
and the outer Greek key border all exhibit the influence of the French
neo-classical taste. A tapestry-woven carpet from the same period as
our carpet in the State History Museum in Moscow shares the overall
neo classical feel and exhibits the same minor star medallions in the
border, although ours are displayed in the corners not at the interstices
(see Sherrill, Sarah B., Carpets and Rugs of Europe and America, New
York, 1996, p. 281, plate 297).

The Italian architect Giacomo Quarenghi (1744-1817) was invited to St.
Petersburg in 1779 and designed palaces, interiors and furniture for
Catherine Il, the Great (reigned 1762-1796) and her successors. Another
tapestry-woven carpet probably woven at the Imperial Tapestry Factory
suggests his work and is similar to painted ceilings he designed for
Catherine Il (see Sherrill, ibid, p. 282, plate 298). Like our carpet, it has
a prominent Greek key border and other neo-classical elements, but
our carpet with its cream ground and emphasis on multi-flower sprays
and garlands illustrates the more feminine taste of Maria Feodorovna
and would have complimented the architecture and decorative style
that she favored.

MARIA FEODOROVNA (1759-1828)

Maria Feodorovna was the second wife of Paul |, born Paul Petrovich to
Empress Catherine Il the Great. Née Sophia Dorothea of Wirttemburg,
she married Paul in 1776. The couple had eight children, the eldest of
whom, Alexander, succeeded his father in 1801.

Maria Feodorovna was a well-liked, gentle, educated and refined
woman with some considerable artistic talents of her own. She was

a good draughtswoman, stone-cutter and gem engraver. A number

of portraits in stone intaglios and cameos executed by her are now
exhibited at Pavlovsk, along with a selection of furniture pieces that
Maria Feodorovna contributed in making. Like her husband, she also
participated in the decoration of her residences. She and her husband
famously traveled to Europe in 1781 under the pseudonyms the Comte
et Comtesse du Nord, arriving in Paris in 1782 where they acquired
furniture, porcelain and bronzes d'ameublement from all the fashionable
shops of the day, most particularly Dominique Daguerre.

PAVLOVSK PALACE

The construction of Pavlovsk Palace was begun by the great Scottish
architect Charles Cameron (1745-1812) in 1781 on land given to the
Prince and Princess in 1777 by Catherine the Great to celebrate the
birth of their son, the future Alexander I. In 1779 Catherine the Great
wrote to Baron Grimm of Cameron: "l am quite taken up at present
with Mister Cameron... a great designer weaned on Antiquity and
famous for his book on ancient baths." Cameron began the work on
the Palladian style palace while the Prince and Princess were away
on their European tour. They were kept abreast of the work through

Pavlovsk Palace

correspondence and continued to be actively involved to the end

of construction. The palace was considered to be one of the finest
examples of classical architecture of the late 18th century and is
unrivaled amongst other Russian monuments. Cameron's relations with
the Russian heir deteriorated and he did not complete the building of
the palace but was replaced in 1786 by the Italian architect Vincenzo
Brenna who largely followed the original plans as desired by the Grand
Duke and Duchess. Completed by the Italian architect Vincenzo
Brenna, the Palace became an Imperial residence in 1796 following
the death of Catherine and the accession of Paul |. After a fire of 1803
nearly destroyed the palace, Maria Feodorovna had it reconstructed to
the original plans so that her beloved residence would remain intact
during her lifetime and beyond. She spent all her time at the palace
after the death of Paul |, whose private rooms she conserved in the
exact order that he had left them.

THE COMMISSION

Although it has not been possible to pinpoint the room for which this
elegant neo-classical carpet was supplied, the prominent display of
Maria Feodorovna’s initial with the Imperial crown, and its relatively
small scale, would suggest that it was used in one of her private
apartments. Its restrained palette and abundant use of flowers recalls
designs for seat covers at Pavlovsk with similar floral festoons on

a cream ground, woven in France circa 1780 and remarkably still
surviving (see E. Ducamp ed, Paviovsk The Collections, Paris, 1993,

pp. 124-6). Indeed in the beautiful portrait of Maria Feodorovna by
Elisabeth Vigée le Brun (illustrated here), she is shown standing on

a carpet of similar floral design, accompanied by a chair proudly
displaying her initial ‘M" and a crown, as on the present carpet. The
woven Cyrillic inscription on the carpet gives a tantalizing clue to the
original commission of this carpet. It transcribes as ‘Fabr. Pavlovskii
Gr: Kushelevo (or Kusheleva?)'; the first part translates as ‘made for
[or in] Pavlovsk’. ‘Gr." could stand for either ‘Grod’ (city) or Graf (Count).
‘Kushelevo' (or ‘Kusheleva’) could refer to Count Grigorii Grigorievich
Kushelev (1754-1833), Admiral of the Fleet and an important statesman
under Paul I. His wife Countess Liubov Il'inichna Kusheleva, (1783-
1809) became a lady-in-waiting to the Empress following Paul’s
coronation in 1797 and in 1799 inherited the vast estates of her uncle
Prince Alexander Andreyevich Bezborodko (1747-1799), making her one
of the wealthiest heiresses in Russia. Could this carpet therefore have
been commissioned by either Count Kushelev or Countess Kusheleva
as a present for the Empress?






THE HUNTLY CANDELABRUM

George Gordon, 5th Duke of Gordon when Marquis of Huntly
© National Portrait Gallery, London

PROPERTY OF A GENTLEMAN
1010

A MAGNIFICENT REGENCY SILVER TEN-LIGHT
CANDELABRUM CENTERPIECE

MARK OF PAUL STORR FOR RUNDELL BRIDGE AND RUNDELL, LONDON, 1814

On a triangular plinth resting on lion's feet with foliate terminal, the apron cast with acanthus leaves, the stem formed as a palm
tree flanked by three male figures of highlanders in Scottish dress standing on a plinth resting on three greyhounds, the tree
canopy supporting the ten-light leaf-capped scrolling branches each terminating in fluted socket numbered 1 to 10, the drip-
pans cast with stiff leaves, the plinth applied with three coats-of-arms and the base engraved on three sides with inscription,
the plain detachable nozzles each engraved with a crest and Marquess' coronet and numbered 1to 10, marked throughout and
stamped on plinth RUNDELL BRIDGE ET RUNDELL AURIFICES REGIS ET PRINCIPIS WALLIAE REGENTIS BRITANNIAS
40 in. (102 cm.) high

842 0z.15 dwt. (26,214 gr.)

The inscription on the base reads To The Most Noble GEORGE MARQUIS of HUNTLY, BARON GORDON ... His Majesty's
Lieutenant of Aberdeen Shire from The Deputy Lieutenants of the County in testimony of their sincere Esteem and Respect 11th
December 1813, 'Dom Uasal Oirdheire DEORSA MARCUS HUNNTAIDH, BARON GORDON &nbsp;&nbsp;,. Ard Fhlath ionaid
na Righ Mhdrdhachd air Siorramachd Obairreadhain FHLAITHIBH - IONAID NA SIORRAMACHD a thaisbeanadh am FIOR-
MHEASA 'S AN CRRAIM, Ant aon la deug don Deichmhios. 1813"and with further classical Greek inscription.

$80,000-120,000

PROVENANCE:

Presented to General George Gordon, Marquess of Huntly (1770-1836), later 5th Duke of Gordon, by the Deputy
Lieutenants of Aberdeenshire to commemorate his marriage on 11 December 1813 to Elizabeth (1794-1864), daughter of
Alexander Brodie of Arnhall, bequeathed to his widow,

Elizabeth, Duchess of Gordon (1794-1864), daughter of Alexander Brodie, then by bequest to her first cousin's son,
William Brodie, 22nd Brodie of Brodie (1799-1873), Brodie Castle, Forres, then by descent to his grandson,

lan, 24th Brodie of Brodie (1868-1943), Brodie Castle, Forres, then by bequest to his widow,

Violet Brodie of Brodie (1979-1958), Brodie Castle, Forres,

Anonymous sale [Mrs Violet Brodie]; Christie's, London, 18 June 1951, lot 43, (£400 to Shrubsole).

Anonymous sale: Sotheby's, New York, 14 April 1999, lot 216.

The Chen Collection; Lyon and Turnbull, London, 23 November 2008, Lot 152.
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GEORGE, MARQUESS OF HUNTLY,
LATER 5TH DUKE OF GORDON (1770-1836)

George Gordon was a Scottish army officer and politician. Born in
Edinburgh on the 2nd February 1770, he was styled Marquess of Huntly
until succeeding to his father's titles in 1827 Huntly was educated at
Eton and Cambridge and, at the age of twenty, enlisted in the 25th foot
regiment as an ensign. From there he enjoyed an illustrious military
career, raising his own regiment of foot, the 100th Gordon Highlanders
(later the 92nd), on his father’s estate in 1794, and attaining the rank of
lieutenant-general in 1808, in which capacity he commanded a division
of Lord Chatham's army in the Walcheren expedition of 1809. On 11th
December 1813 he married Elizabeth Brodie (1794-1864), only child of
wealthy India merchant Alexander Brodie. The couple had no children
together and upon Gordon's death the dukedom became extinct -
though the subsidiary Marquessate of Huntly descended to Gordon's
kinsman George Gordon, 9th Marquess.

A committed officer, Huntly first saw combat as lieutenant-colonel
of the 3rd foot guards in the Duke of York's expedition to Flanders,
participating in skirmishes at St. Armand, Famars, Launoi, Dunkirk, and
the ill-fated siege of Valenciennes during the War of the First Coalition.
Upon Huntly's return to Scotland, his mother and father helped to

Gordon-Castle;Baaffshire
Private Collection@ LookandLearn/
> Bridgemanimages.

personally recruit for the newly established 100th Highlanders. The
duchess is said to have aided in this endeavor by placing the King's
shilling between her lips, rewarding each recruit with a kiss. Thereafter
Huntly took his regiment to Gibraltar, though on his return journey

in September 1795 their vessel was seized by a French privateer and
robbed of anything valuable. Huntly was returned to England on a
Swedish ship and allowed to rejoin his regiment, later commanding
with noted discipline and forbearance in the 1798 Irish rising. In 1799
Huntly accompanied the expedition to the Netherlands and was badly
wounded by a musket-ball to the shoulder during the fight in the
sandhills between Egmont and Bergen, an ordeal which afforded the
praise of General John Moore.

In 1806 Huntly sat as MP for the Cornwallis family pocket borough

of Eye, Suffolk; until the death of Pitt and the subsequent Grenville
ministry called the staunchly conservative Huntly to the Lords. Huntly
succeeded to the dukedom upon the death of his father in 1827, as well
as taking over his father’s responsibilities as Keeper of the Great Seall
of Scotland. As duke he was known for his hospitality and generous
charitable donations, particularly to the Scottish Hospital, of which

he was president. After his death in London, Gordon’s remains were
escorted for burial in Scotland by his regiment of guards, while his
estate of Gordon Castle passed to the Duke of Richmond.

HISTORY OF THE CANDELABRUM

Deeply in debt, the forty-three year old Marquess of Huntly had married
Elizabeth Brodie, the young daughter of wealthy nabob Alexander
Brodie, himself the younger brother of the 21st laird of Brodie Castle.
The candelabrum was given to Huntly as a wedding present from

the Deputy Lieutenants of Aberdeenshire, where Huntly was the

Lord Lieutenant. The gift serves as a testimony to Huntly's esteemed
military career, with the stem supported by three figures in Highland
dress in allusion to Huntly's own regiment. Following Elizabeth’s death
in 1813, the candelabrum passed to her first cousin’s son, William
Brodie, 22nd Brodie of Brodie (1799-1873). Thereafter Brodie Castle
was filled with treasures from the Duke and Duchess’s estate, including
portraits of the couple and the coronation robe of Queen Adelaide,
given to Elizabeth for her service as Mistress of the Robes. The
candelabrum continued to be passed down the Brodie family,

first to lan, 24th Brodie of Brodie (1868-1943), and then to his widow,
Violet (1879-1958). In June 1951 Mrs Brodie sold the candelabrum

at Christie's, London.






Miles with the black ‘"Moon & Stars’ trumpet
© The Estate of David Gahr/Getty Images

A GILT-DECORATED BLUE-LACQUERED
TRUMPET IN B FLAT

THE MARTIN COMPANY, KENOSHA, WISCONSIN, CIRCA 1980

A model T3460 ‘Committee’, the medium bore horn inscribed Miles in gilt script flanked by gilt
leafy vine, the bell tube decorated with a scattering of crescent moons and stars and inscribed
MARTIN/KENOSHA, WIS/U.S.A., all on a baked midnight blue epoxy finish, the angled
mouthpiece branded GIARDINELLI NEW YORK, SPECIAL, with fitted leather case

21in.(53.34 cm.) long

$70,000-100,000

PROVENANCE:

Miles Davis (1926-1991)

George Benson (b. 1943)

Acquired by the present owner at Fine Musical Instruments including The Collection of
George Benson, Skinner, Boston, 14 October 2007, lot 26



—Miles Davis
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idiom as it burgeoned in the 1940s, but growing with it,
influencing it and shaping it for the next five decades.
In the pantheon of historic jazz trumpet players there is
Louis Armstrong, Dizzy Gillespie and Miles Davis, with
Miles particularly revered for his ability to use space,
light and shade like no other.

Though many of today's fans first came to Miles after
hearing his monumental 1970 jazz fusion album, Bitches
Brew, he was right in the thick of the American jazz
scene soon after his 1945 arrival in New York, playing in
saxophonist Charlie Parker's bebop quintet and playing
and recorded with John Coltrane, Paul Chambers, Al
McKibbin, Billie Holiday and other greats of into the
mid-1950s. His performance at the second Newport
Jazz Festival in 1955 led to a contract with Columbia
Records and a series of later 1950s albums (Kind of
Blue, Miles Ahead, Sketches of Spain, Porgy & Bess) that
took him from jazz favorite to leading popular musician

Miles continued to develop and change into the

1960s and early 70s, influenced by rock and funk,
African rhythms and electric music. His popularity

and commercial success thrived, but by 1975 personal
demons combined with exhaustion to drive Miles
underground, and he didn't record or play in public
again until the early 1980s. During this period Columbia
Records continued to pay him a stipend, a deal they
made with only one other musician, Vladimir Horowitz.

When Miles re-emerged and resumed his career he
also resumed the boundless growth of his music, using
younger musicians and incorporating pop sounds and
new standards in his repertoire. He played with Prince
and recorded pop songs like Michael Jackson's Human
Nature and Cyndi Lauper's Time After Time, saying,

"A standard fits like a thoroughbred. The melody and
everything is just right, and every time you hear it you
want to hear it some more. And you leave enough of

it to know you want to hear it again." Miles won two
Grammys for jazz soloist in the 80s and a Grammy
Lifetime Achievement Award in 1990.

Martin ‘Committee’ horns were coveted by jazz
musicians even before Miles’ early career days. The
company was founded in 1855 by German immigrant
John Heinrich Martin; in 1939 they introduced a trumpet
designed with input from an exalted ‘committee’ that
quickly became the go-to instrument for jazz artists like
Dizzy Gillespie. Though other players changed brands
over the years, Miles famously stuck with ‘Committee’
trumpets. When the Martin Company was sold (first to
Waurlitzer in the 1960s and then Leblanc in 1971) they
stopped making the ‘Committee’ model for a while

- but continued to make them on a custom basis for
Miles. As one writer put it:

Others can copy the tapered tuning slide; the cone-
shaped, cornet-like bell; and even the quirky water keys.
But nobody has deciphered the magic formula for that



unique tone — so smooth, so dusky, so ... jazzy. And it's
not just the tone. Some players love them for what a
persnickety symphonic type might consider a flaw: They
don't slot well, so it's easy to slide into and out of notes a
la Miles Davis

Leblanc gave the ‘Committee’ trumpet project to
designer and technician Larry Ramirez, a jazz trumpeter
himself. Ramirez designed custom instruments like a
slide trumpet for Maynard Ferguson and a four-valve
for Don Ellis, and was the only one at the factory

who fully understood what Miles Davis wanted in his
trumpets. At Miles' request, Ramirez created a red, a
black and a blue trumpet with the gilt moon and stars
decoration. One was ready just before Miles was to give
a major performance in Denver, which happened to be
Ramirez's home town, so Larry was able to hand deliver
it to Miles in his Denver hotel room. Miles buried the

bell in Larry’s stomach to try the trumpet so as not to
wake his wife, Cicely Tyson, asleep in the next room.
This was a highlight of Ramirez's life and a story he told
many times

Blue is a color closely associated with Miles ever since
his 1955 album Blue Moods and the 1959 classic Kind
of Blue, considered by many the best jazz album of

all time. Miles, who had a famously restless creative
mind, was a visual artist as well as a musician. Cicely
Tyson gave him a sketchbook in 1980 and he was
never without one after that, something he credited for
helping stay sober.

The Davis family retained the red moon and stars
trumpet; Miles is buried at Woodlawn Cemetery in the
Bronx - near the grave of Duke Ellington - with the
black trumpet at his side. Inscribed on his headstone
are a couple bars of his music and Sir Miles Davis, his
formal title following his 1988 induction into the Knights
of Malta at the Alhambra Palace in Spain. Miles was
also known as The Prince of Darkness. But perhaps the
best of his monikers was The Picasso of Jazz.

—Miles Davis to Richard Cook, 2002 interview for The Guardiant



48

THE ROTHSCHILD
CHATEAU DE FERRIERES ANDIRONS

The andirons illustrated in the Dining Room, Chateau de Ferrieres, in a watercolor by Eugéne Lami, circa 1860
Private Collection

THE ROTHSCHILD CHATEAU DE FERRIERES ANDIRONS
AN IMPORTANT PRIVATE COLLECTION, LONG ISLAND

=012

A PAIR OF BRONZE ANDIRONS WITH FIGURES OF
OMPHALE AND MARS, OR A ROMAN EMPEROR

VENICE, ATTRIBUTED TO TIZIANO ASPETTI (CIRCA 1559-1606) OR HIS
WORKSHOP, VENICE, FIRST HALF OF THE 17TH CENTURY

Formed as a fully-modelled figure of Mars, or a Roman emperor, and Omphale, on a three-sided
base cast with winged caryatids at the corners flanking female masks within strapwork, on a
gadrooned base on scroll supports applied with reclining winged putti holding a flower swag and
flanking a classical figure seated on scrolling strapwork, on a stepped molded base

45in. (105.5 cm.) high (2)

$120,000-180,000

PROVENANCE:

Acquired by James de Rothschild (1792-1868) for the Chateau de Ferrieres,
Seine-et-Marne, France.

Thence by descent to Baron Guy de Rothschild, sold Sotheby's Monaco,

8 December 1994, lot 14.

Anonymous sale, Christie's, London, 10 December, 1996, lot 97.
Anonymous Sale, Christie’s, New York, 27 May, 1999, lot 280.

An Important Private Collection, Long Island, New York.

COMPARATIVE LITERATURE:

L. Planiscig, Venezianische Bildhauer der Renaissance, Vienna, 1921, figs. 620-1, 625.
J. Balogh, Katalog der Auslandischen Bildwerke des Museums der bildenden Kiinste in
Budapest, Budapest, 1975, p. 175, no. 231, fig. 275.
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It would be hard to imagine objects more redolent of
Rothschild taste than these magnificent andirons. Late-
Renaissance objets de luxe on a monumental scale they
successfully bridge the gap between fine and decorative
arts. While they are functional - and would have looked
dazzling with the flickering flames visible though the
open framework of their bases -- their primary effect is
sculptural. The figures, probably Omphale and Mars or
a Roman Emperor, are glorious examples of Venetian

metalwork, significant works of sculpture by themselves.

In the Rothschild collections for at least 140 years,
these andirons featured prominently in the two rooms
of one of the grandest of all the Rothschild palaces,
the chateau de Ferrieres. Eugene Lami, the interior
architect of Ferrieres, who also helped supply much of
the collection, illustrated them in a watercolor as early
as 1860 in the Dining Room and then, by the 1880s,
they were moved to the Great Hall, one of the most
spectacular rooms created in the 19th century.

The chateau de Ferrieres, in the départment of Seine-
et-Marne, was purchased in 1829 from Joseph Fouch,
duc d'Otrante, by James de Rothschild (1792-1868),

the founder of the French branch of the family. Finding
the house somewhat small for his social ambitions,

he demolished it and in 1854 commissioned the

great English architect Joseph Paxton to construct

a far grander house along the lines of Mentmore,

the staggeringly large and complex palace in
Buckinghamshire which he had built in 1850 for his
cousin Mayer (1818-1874). James de Rothschild was said
to have demanded of Paxton: ‘Build me Mentmore, only
bigger’ Paxton's initial plans for a house like Mentmore
in the Jacobean style, were modified to include English,
French and Italian Renaissance elements. Work began
in late 1856 and the interior decoration was entrusted to
the painter Eugne Lami (1800-1890) who also advised
James de Rothschild on his purchases. The resulting
eclectic mix, ranging from the 16th to the 19th centuries,
sets Ferrieres very much apart from the prevailing
decorative style in the larger French country houses.
Donated by the Rothschilds to the University of Paris

in 1975, its interiors remain intact and it is considered
the most spectacular house built in the 19th century

in France. For a further discussion of the building and
decoration of Ferrires see P. Prévost-Marcilhacy, Les
Rothschild batisseurs et mécenes, Paris, 1995, pp. 94-98
and pp. 106, 107,109, 123, 124-5, 129, 131, 134, 135 for
watercolors by Lami of the main rooms.

The attribution of the present pair of andirons to Tiziano
Aspetti (c. 1559 Padua - Pisa 1606) is based upon the
comparison of the two finial figures with a body of
bronze statuettes generally accepted as by Aspetti
(Planiscig, op. cit, figs. 620-1, 625). Another example

of the male figure, though of inferior quality, has been
attributed to the circle of Aspetti and can be found in
the Museum of Fine Arts in Budapest (Bologh, loc. cit.).

By the late 16th century, andirons had become a
speciality of Venetian sculptors. While changing
fashions meant that the lower elements of such
andirons would be discarded, the bronze finial figures
often survived as art objects in their own right, making
the present andirons remarkably noteworthy for their
complete state. The lower portion of these andirons
relates to another pair in the Bargello attributed to
Niccol Roccatagliata (Planiscig, op. cit,, figs. 663 and
664), and a further pair from the Pierpont Morgan
Collection, by Alessandro Vittoria (W. Bode, The Italian
Bronze Statuettes of the Renaissance, 1980, figs. 65 and
66). The Morgan andirons were originally in London
and are now on-view at the Morgan Library in New
York. Such ideas and motifs appear to have travelled
freely between workshops and foundries, though it

is interesting to note that Aspetti's oeuvre shows the
influence of Vittoria above any other.

above: The andirons photographed
in the Great Hall, Chateau de
Ferriéres, circa 1880

Private Collection
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A RUSSIAN ORMOLU AND MALACHITE GUERIDON
CIRCA 1840-50

The oval malachite-veneered top raised on a bulbous foliate stem with acantus leaves,
palmettes and berrying vines above scrolling feet
76 in. (193 cm.) high, 33%4in. (84.5 cm.) wide, 25 in. (63.5 cm.) deep

$60,000-100,000

This striking guéridon with its eye-catching malachite top is emblematic of the Russian
fascination with malachite and of the spectacular works of art that the Imperial lapidary
workshops produced in the first half of the 19th century. Malachite is most closely associated
with the Russian Imperial Factories of the 18th and 19th centuries, whose highly skilled
stone-cutting led to the creation of some of the most beautiful objets dart.

The Imperial administration held the sole right to mine for malachite from the Ural Mountains,
so the products of these factories were almost exclusively destined for Imperial palaces or

to be given as diplomatic gifts, making them very desirable. Among the magnificent presents
given by Russian Tsars are two celebrated malachite vases in Windsor Castle, presented

to George |V by Tsar Alexander | in 1827 and to Queen Victoria by Tsar Nicholas I in 1839,

and a pair of malachite vases in the Grand Trianon, gifted from Tsar Alexander | to

Napoleon circa 1808.

The top of this guéridon was created using the technique of ‘Russian mosaic', where malachite
is sawn into very thin slices, applied to a stone or metal ground with the veins laid to form
pleasing patterns and then polished, making the joins barely visible. By pairing a finely crafted
table top that calls to mind the Imperial Factories with a superbly detailed ormolu base, the
makers of the present gueridon deftly balance Russian taste with French refinement.

A related guéridon is illustrated V.B. Semyonov, Malachite, Sverdlovsk, 1987, vol. |, p. 181 fig. 43,
and a similar exam<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>